Case No. 77668

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

JANETTE BYRNE, as TRUSTEE OF THE UOFM Theotronically Filed

Appellant,

May 21 2019 03:15 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Cleark of Supreme Court

VS.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Jurisdiction is proper under NRAP 3A(b)(1) because this appeal was timely filed from a judgment certified as final under NRCP 54(b). On October 18, 2017, the district court granted summary judgment in favor of the two general contractors based on the statute of repose. On December 14, 2017, the district court issued a Nunc Pro Tunc Order granting summary judgment on the same grounds in favor of numerous other contractors in the action. Byrne's claims against numerous defendants were not resolved on summary judgment, but were subsequently resolved either by settlement, default judgment or voluntary dismissal.

The written orders resolving Byrne's claims against all defendants are attached to her Docketing Statement. Byrne's claims against Avanti Products, LLC; BSH Home Appliances Corporation; General Electric Company; Ivie Mechanical, Inc.; Trim Time LLC; 4M Corp. and Mountain West Electric have all been dismissed. Default judgments were granted against J.C.W. Concrete; Karl Henry Lisenbardt; Spray Product Applications, LLC; and Window Installation Specialists, LLC. No claims remain between Byrne and any parties who appeared in the action. Accordingly, the district court properly entered an order certifying the judgment as final pursuant to NRCP 54(b).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal is not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals. NRAP 17(b). This appeal should be retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(11) (principal issue of first impression) and (12) (principal issue of statewide public importance). That there is an important issue concerning the interpretation of newly enacted AB 125, § 21(6) (2015) is demonstrated by the fact that in *Lopez v*. U.S. Home Corp., 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 163571 (D. Nev. 2017), the federal district court construed the tolling provisions of NRS 40.695 and the grace period provided by AB 125, § 21(6) in a manner that directly conflicts with the interpretation made by the district court below. Additionally, in Sky Las Vegas Condominiums, Inc. v. Sky Las Vegas Condominium Unit Owners Association, Case No. A-16-738730-D, Dept No. XXII, Clark County, the district court also reached a different conclusion from Judge Scotti with respect to the application of the tolling provisions of NRS 40.695 and the grace period provided by AB 125, 2015 Nev. Stat., ch. 2,§ 21(6). 3 AA 526.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether NRS 40.695, which tolls the statute of repose for construction defect claims from the time a prelitigation notice of the claim is served on the contractor pursuant to NRS 40.645, applies to a notice of claim served within the one-year grace period established by AB 125, 2015 Nev. Stat., ch. 2, § 21(6).

2. Whether the district court abused its discretion in awarding attorney's fees to Lands West Builders, Inc. pursuant to NRCP 68 and NRS 40.652(4).

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of a construction defect action filed by Appellant (Byrne) on August 22, 2016 pursuant to NRS Chapter 40. On October 18, 2017, the district court granted summary judgment in favor of two of the contractor defendants based on the statute of repose. On December 14, 2017, the district court issued a Nunc Pro Tunc Order granting summary judgment on the same grounds in favor of numerous other contractor defendants in the action. Thereafter, on March 13, 2018, the district court entered an Order Granting Defendant Lands West Builder's motion for attorney's fees and costs. On November 15, 2018, following the resolution of all additional claims involving Appellant Byrne in the case, the district court entered its Order Granting Certification of Final Judgment Pursuant to NRCP 54(b). Byrne filed her notice of appeal on December 10, 2018.

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Facts Pertaining to the Statute of Repose Issue

A brief overview of the applicable law should help to place the facts in their appropriate legal context. Nevada construction defect law is governed by a comprehensive statutory scheme established by NRS 40.600 to 40.695, commonly referred to as Chapter 40. Chapter 40 contains a series of procedures designed to facilitate the resolution of construction defect claims without the need to resort to the

courts. Those procedures require claimants and contractors to engage in an extensive prelitigation dispute resolution process before a claimant is permitted to file suit. *See* NRS 40.645 through 40.680.

The prelitigation process must be commenced in accordance with NRS 40.645(1), which requires a claimant to give a contractor written notice concerning the nature of the claimed defects. The prelitigation process culminates with mediation, if necessary. NRS 40.695 tolls the statute of repose for construction defect actions from the time the prelitigation notice is served until one year after the notice is given or thirty days after the prelitigation mediation is concluded, whichever is earlier.

In 2015, the Legislature passed AB 125, which shortened the statute of repose for latent construction defects from ten years to six years. Assembly Bill 125, 78th Leg. (Nev. 2015). Although the new statute of repose applies retroactively, the Legislature established a one-year grace period that allowed claimants with existing but unfiled claims to commence construction defect actions by February 24, 2016. *See* AB 125, Nev. Stat., ch.2, § 21(6) (2015). Without the grace period, claims that had accrued prior to February 24, 2009 and that were otherwise viable would have been eliminated by the retroactive application of the new six-year statute. The grace period also granted additional time for the filing of claims that otherwise would have

expired within one year of the effective date of the Act.

Substantial completion of Byrne's residence occurred on May 29, 2009, and her construction defect claim accrued on that date pursuant to NRS 11.202. 3 AA 558. Since Byrne's claim accrued on May 29, 2009, she had until the end of the grace period (February 24, 2016), within which to timely file her construction defect action. In the absence of the grace period, Byrne's claim would have been time-barred on May 29, 2015, just a few months after AB 125 became effective.

Byrne served her prelitigation notice on December 2, 2015, prior to the expiration of the grace period. Thereafter, she proceeded to satisfy all of the other statutory pre-filing requirements, including participating in mediation, before filing this action on August 22, 2016. It is undisputed that Byrne filed the instant action within the time prescribed by NRS 40.695 for the tolling of construction defect actions.

Based on its interpretation of NRS 40.695 and the 2015 amendments to Chapter 40, the district court determined that a prelitigation notice served more than six years after the accrual date does not toll the statute of repose, regardless of whether the notice was served during the grace period. Since Byrne served her prelitigation notice more than six years after her claim accrued, the district court ruled that the notice did not toll the running of the statute of repose, even though the notice

was served within the grace period. The district court therefore concluded that Byrne's complaint was untimely because it was filed after February 24, 2016.

B. Facts Pertaining to the Award of Attorney's Fees

Byrne also appeals the district court's award of attorney's fees to Lands West Builders, Inc. (hereafter "Lands West") in the amount of \$94,662.50 pursuant to NRCP 68 and NRS 40.652(4). The facts concerning the award of attorney's fees to Lands West are also straightforward. Byrne purchased her newly constructed residence in February of 2012. The house was an 11,225 square foot custom home. 3 AA 557. Defendant Sunridge was the general contractor. 3 AA 558.

After Byrne became aware of defects in the construction of the house, she requested Sunridge to remedy the problems. In response to Byrne's request, Sunridge agreed to make repairs. However, the attempted repair work was actually performed by a different homebuilding company, Lands West. 2 AA 428. That work continued over a two year period from 2012 to 2014. 5 AA 1054. When the repairs proved to be inadequate, Byrne initiated her Chapter 40 claim by serving her prelitigation notice pursuant to NRS 40.645. Unfortunately, despite a lengthy prelitigation process and mediation, the parties were unable to resolve Byrne's claims.

After the prelitigation process was completed, Byrne initiated this action against Sunridge and Lands West, among other contractor defendants. 1 AA 69.

Byrne sued Sunridge as the general contractor. Byrne also sought recovery of all of her damages against Lands West based on the theories of alter ego and successor liability. 1 AA 76-78. The Second Amended complaint contains detailed allegations supporting the alter ego claim. 1 AA 76-77. Lands West did not file a dispositive motion challenging Byrne's allegations concerning Lands West's relationship to Sunridge. Nor did the district court make any ruling on the merits of that issue.¹

As the Order granting the fee award indicates, Byrne claimed damages in the amount of \$1.8 million dollars. 5 AA 1053, 1054; 5 AA 1076. Lands West made its offer of judgment in the amount of \$10,001 on March 14, 2017, just two months after it had entered the lawsuit and before Byrne filed her Second Amended Complaint (March 16, 2017). 3 AA 587. The offer was also made long before any significant discovery had been conducted. In fact, destructive testing of the house was not performed until May 9, 2017 and Byrne's expert reports were not prepared until afterwards. 4 AA 964. Additionally, as of the time of the offer, no discovery had been conducted with respect to the alter ego and successor liability claims. The deadline for completing discovery, February 28, 2018, was almost a year after the

¹ In any event, the record contains ample evidence supporting Byrne's alter ego and successor liability claims. Part of that evidence consisted of the fact that, when Byrne notified Sunridge of the problems, its representatives indicated that they were now operating through a different homebuilding company, Lands West, and that Lands West would be making the repairs. 2 AA 428; 4 AA 963.

offer was made. 4 AA 965.

Notwithstanding the premature timing of the offer, the negligible amount of the offer, the magnitude of Byrne's construction defect claim and the small chance that Byrne's claims would ultimately be dismissed based on the statute of repose, the district court ruled that Lands West was entitled to an award of Attorney's fees in the amount of \$94,662.50 based on the offer of judgment. This appeal followed.

III. SUMMARY OF LEGAL ARGUMENT.

NRS 40.695 provides that the service of the prelitigation notice tolls the statute of repose during the pendency of the prelitigation process. Byrne served her prelitigation notice within the grace period. She then proceeded to engage in the prelitigation process over the course of the next seven months. Byrne filed the present action in August, 2016, within thirty days of concluding the prelitigation mediation, after satisfying all of the prelitigation requirements.

The determination of the propriety of the district court's ruling depends on the meaning of NRS 40.695 and several other sections of NRS Chapter 40. In 2015, the Legislature passed AB 125, § 21(5) (effective February 24, 2015), which shortened the statute of repose for construction defect involving latent deficiencies from ten years to six years. Although the new statute of repose applied retroactively, the Legislature established a one-year grace period that allowed claimants to commence

construction defect actions until February 24, 2016. *See* AB 125, § 21(6) (2015). The grace period extended the new six-year statute of repose in order to ensure that all claimants with existing claims affected by the shortening of the repose period would have a reasonable amount of time within which to file their claims after the amendments became effective.

Based on its interpretation of the 2015 amendments to Chapter 40, the district court ruled that Byrne's claims were barred by the statute of repose because she filed her action after February 24, 2016. The district court's ruling was predicated on its determination that, under the amended provisions of Chapter 40, Byrne's service of her prelitigation notice during the grace period did not toll the statute of repose.

The district court's interpretation of the amendments is incorrect for numerous reasons. First, under the plain meaning of the amendments, the grace period is simply an extension of the statute of repose. Therefore, under NRS 40.695, a prelitigation notice filed during the grace period tolls the statute of repose. In addition, the district court's interpretation of the amendments is untenable because such a reading; (1) is inconsistent with numerous sections of Chapter 40 that require a claimant to complete the prelitigation process before a judicial action may be brought; (2) is inimical to a core policy of Chapter 40 to promote the settlement of claims through a statutory prelitigation dispute resolution process; (3) would produce a number of absurd

results, and; (4) would be manifestly unfair to claimants whose claims expired within the grace period.

Byrne also appeals from the district court's award of attorney's fees based on Lands West's offer of judgment. The standards governing such an award are set forth in *Beattie v. Thomas*, 99 Nev. 579, 668 P.2d 268 (1983). The *Beattie* factors require a determination of whether Byrne's claim was brought in bad faith, whether Land's West's offer was reasonable in timing and amount, and whether Byrne's decision to reject the offer was grossly unreasonable. Lands West's motion for summary judgment was solely based on its statute of repose defense. There was no determination in this case regarding the amount of Byrne's damages or Land's West's liability for those damages. As such, the district court was required to evaluate the *Beattie* factors solely in light of the amount and timing of the offer, the amount of Byrne's claim, and the risk posed by Lands West's statute of repose defense.

A proper analysis of the *Beattie* factors cannot support an award of attorney's fees in this case. In order to find against Byrne under the *Beattie* factors, the district court would have been required to find that Byrne had such a small chance of prevailing on the tolling issue that she should have accepted a \$10,001 offer to relinquish her \$1.8 million claim – and that she should have done so shortly after she filed her complaint. However, for all of the reasons discussed below, Byrne had

sound legal grounds upon which to base her argument that the statute of repose was tolled. Accordingly, at the very least, Byrne had a reasonable chance of prevailing against Lands West with respect the tolling issue.

Furthermore, the timing of Lands West's offer was manifestly unreasonable. The offer was made on March 14, 2017, before Byrne had even filed her Second Amended Complaint. In view of the amount of Lands West's offer, the timing of the offer, and the strength of the arguments in support of Byrne's position on the tolling issue, the only reasonable conclusion that a court could reach is that all of the *Beattie* factors weigh heavily against an award of attorney's fees.

IV. LEGAL ARGUMENT.

A. The District Court Erred by Ruling that Byrne's Claims Were Barred by the Statute of Repose.

Rules of Statutory Construction

Questions involving statutory interpretation are reviewed de novo. *Dykema v. Del Webb Cmtys.*, 132 Nev. Adv. Rep. 82, 385 P.3d 977, 979 (2016). The goal of statutory interpretation is to give effect to the Legislature's intent. *Hobbs v. State*, 127 Nev. 234, 237, 251 P.3d 177 (2011). The Legislature's intent is determined from the plain language of the statute. *Id.* When the language is clear, the apparent intent must be given effect and there is no room for construction. *Edgington v. Edgington*,

119 Nev. 577, 582, 80 P.3d 1282 (2003). "Whenever possible, this Court interprets a statute in harmony with other rules or statutes, so that the act as a whole is given effect." *N.J. v. State*, 134 Nev. Adv. Rep. 48, 420 P.3d 1029, 1032 (2018); *Nevada Power v. Haggerty*, 115 Nev. 353, 364, 989 P.2d 870 (1999).

If the statute is ambiguous, meaning it is capable of two or more reasonable interpretations, the court looks to the provision's legislative history and the "context and the spirit of the law or the causes which induced the Legislature to enact it." Dykema, 385 P.3d at 979. In determining the context and spirit of the law, this Court has repeatedly sought to discern the underlying purposes of individual statutes and the statutory schemes in which they are found. See, e.g., Kulic v. Hunter's Ridge Homeowner's Ass'n, 126 Nev. 731, 367 P.3d 791 (2010) (interpretation should not "undermine the statutory scheme and the purpose of the statute"); Wells Fargo Bank v. Radecki, 134 Nev. Adv. Rep. 74, 426 P.3d 593 (2018) (interpreting the statute in a manner consistent with the "primary purpose" of the Uniform Fraudulent Transfers Act); Gunderson v. D.R. Horton, 130 Nev. Adv. Rep. 9, 319 P.3d 606 2014) (noting that one of the "primary purposes of our construction defect statutory scheme is to protect the rights of home buyers"); Holdawa-Foster v. Brunell, 130 Nev. Adv. Rep. 51, 330 P.3d 471, 473 (2014).

Where alternative interpretations of a statute are possible, the one producing

the most reasonable result should always be favored. *See G & H Associates v. Ernest W. Hahn*, 113 Nev. 265, 272, 934 P.2d 229 (1997). Interpretations leading to absurd results must be avoided. *Gallagher v. City of Las Vegas*, 114 Nev. 595, 599, 959 P.2d 519 (1998). And an interpretation that renders language meaningless or superfluous should be rejected. *Hobbs*, 127 Nev. at 237. When two statutes are potentially in conflict, the more specific statute will take precedence over the more general one and is construed as an exception to the latter. *N.J.*, 420 P.3d at 1032.

Governing Sections of NRS Chapter 40

Nevada construction defect law is governed by a comprehensive statutory scheme established by NRS 40.600 through 40.695. One of the primary purposes of Chapter 40 was to establish a process that would facilitate the resolution of construction defect claims without the need for litigation. As the Nevada Supreme Court has noted, Chapter 40's prelitigation process is intended to promote the settlement of claims before litigation by providing contractors with the opportunity to voluntarily make repairs and by requiring the parties to engage in prelitigation mediation. *See D.R.Horton v. District Court*, 131 Nev. Adv. No. 86, 358 P.3d 925, 931 (2015).

The prelitigation process commences when the claimant serves the contractor with a "notice of the claim" pursuant to NRS 40.645(1). That section provides that

a claimant "must give written notice" of the defects to the contractor "before a claimant commences an action or amends a complaint to add a cause of action for a constructional defect against a contractor." The claimant is then required to allow the contractor to inspect the residence in order to determine whether repairs are necessary. NRS 40.6462. If the contractor elects to make repairs, the claimant must allow the contractor to attempt to do so. NRS 40.647(1)(c). Before filing an action, a claimant is also required to submit the matter to mediation. NRS 40.680.

In 2015, the Legislature made extensive changes to Chapter 40 through Assembly Bill 125, signed into law on February 24, 2015. A.B. 125, 78th Leg. (Nev. 2015) (hereafter "AB 125"). The changes that give rise to this appeal involve the shortening and retroactive application of the statutes of repose provided in former NRS 11.202. The former statutes of repose required a claimant to file an action within periods ranging from six to twelve years from the date of substantial completion of construction, depending on the type of defect. AB 125 amended NRS 11.202 by establishing a single six-year period that applies to all claims, regardless of the type of defect. 2015 Nev. Stat., ch. 2, § 17(1).

AB 125 also provided that the new six-year statute of repose would apply retroactively to all actions involving improvements that were substantially completed before the effective date of the act (February 24, 2015). 2015 Nev. Stat., ch. 2, §

21(5). However, the Legislature, recognizing that the retroactive shortening of the statute of repose would extinguish some claims and adversely impact others, created an exception in order to protect claimants who would be adversely affected by the change. 2015 Nev. Stat., ch. 2, § 21(6). Section 21(6) provides, in pertinent part, that "The provisions of subsection 5 do not limit an action: (a) That accrued before the effective date of this act, and was commenced within 1 year after the effective date of this act." 2015 Nev. Stat., ch. 2, § 21(6). Subsection 6 is referred to in the Act as the "1-year grace period." *See* AB 125, Legislative Counsel's Digest, at 3, (summarizing the purpose of § 21).

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