Case 77668

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA Electronically Filed

Jul 22 2019 05:01 p.m.

JANETTE BYRNE, as Trustee of the UOFM TRUE Labeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

VS.

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

Volpert v. Papagna, 85 Nev. 437, 440, 456 P.2d 848, 850 (1969) (citing NRCP 3). 11

Finally, the Legislative Counsel's Digest to AB 125 reiterated the difference between a Chapter 40 Notice and commencement of an action:

Under existing law, before an owner of a residence or appurtenance or certain other persons *may commence a civil action* against a contractor, subcontractor, supplier or design professional for certain defects in the residence or appurtenance, the claimant must provide *notice of the defect* to the contractor.

(Emphasis added).

Here, the plain language of AB 125 § 21(6) indicates that an action must be "commenced" within the one-year grace period. Commencement of an action under Chapter 40 means to file a complaint. Therefore, Byrne's argument that the grace period is just an "extension" of the repose period that can be tolled by NRS 40.695 with a Chapter 40 Notice is not supported by the plain language of AB 125 § 21(6). Service of a Chapter 40 Notice during the grace period does not constitute commencement of an action and does not toll the statute of repose.

Since it must be presumed that in enacting a statute the Legislature acts with full knowledge of existing statutes relating to the same subject, *Boulder City*, 101

¹¹ See James Hunter & Co. v. Truckee Lodge, I. O. O. F., 14 Nev. 24, 27 (1879) (Commencing proceedings means commencing suits and issuing summons); Howard v. Waale-Camplan & Tiberti, Inc., 67 Nev. 304, 309, 217 P.2d 872, 874 (1950) ("The 'proceedings' there referred to mean, without doubt, the commencement of an action by the filing of a complaint to foreclose the lien...") (Emphasis added).

Nev. at 118-19, 694 P.2d at 500, and because NRS 11.202 clearly relates to NRS 40.600 *et seq.*, this Court must presume that "commencement" of an action carries the same meaning throughout AB 125, NRS 11.202 and NRS 40.600 *et seq.* Specifically, the Court must presume that when the Legislature utilized the term "commenced" it meant the filing of a complaint, as that is the meaning ascribed to the term throughout NRS Chapter 40. *See id.* Since Byrne did not commence an action by filing her complaint before the expiration of the one year grace period on February 24, 2016, the District Court correctly determined that her action was time-barred.

Byrne cited to this Court's decision in *Alsenz*, for the proposition that "...a new statute of repose must contain a grace period that ensures that all claimants who are affected by the change will be afforded a reasonable period of time in which *to file an action*." (Opening Brief, 16 *citing Alsenz*, 108 Nev. 1117; 843 P.2d 834) (Emphasis added). That is exactly what the Legislature did in enacting AB 125 and including the one-year grace period to commence an action *by filing a complaint*.

Byrne also argued that if "...the Legislature had intended to eliminate tolling with respect to all actions that were required to be filed by the end of the grace period, it could have easily employed language suitable for such a purpose."

(Opening Brief, 20). However, this same rationale applies to Byrne's arguments.

Had the Legislature intended to allow an a Chapter 40 Notice to toll the grace period pursuant to NRS 40.695, it would not have required an action to be "...commenced within one year after the effective date." AB 125 § 21(6) (Emphasis added).

In fact, the Legislature could have easily specified that an action can be initiated within the grace period by serving a Chapter 40 Notice rather than requiring that an "action" be "commenced." For example, the Legislature could have drafted AB 125 § 21(6) as follows: "The provisions of subsection 5 do not limit an action: (a) That accrued before the effective date of this act, and for which notice pursuant to NRS 40.645 was served within 1 year after the effective date of this act..."

Since the language of AB 125 § 21(6) is clear and unambiguous, the plain and ordinary meaning of the word "commence" should be applied. *Consipio Holding*, *BV*, 128 Nev. at 460, 282 P.3d at 756. In the NRS Chapter 40 context, to commence an action means to file a complaint. There is no other reasonable interpretation of the term.

When read together, the plain language of AB 125, NRS 40.645 and NRS 11.202(1)(a) does not permit a Chapter 40 Notice to toll the grace period under NRS 40.695. The language of AB 125 § 21(6) is clear. The six year statute of repose does not limit an action that was "...commenced within 1 year after the

effective date of this act..." AB 125 § 21(6) (Emphasis added). In this context, to "commence" an action means to file a complaint. Therefore, this Court must reject Byrne's argument that her Chapter 40 Notice served *after* expiration of the six year statute of repose somehow saved her untimely complaint.

2. Byrne's proposed application of the grace period ignores NRS 40.647, which permits commencement of an action before completion of the pre-litigation process when necessary to avoid the consequences of a statute of repose.

In an effort to paint the District Court's decision as "repugnant" to Chapter 40, Byrne disingenuously argued that her complaint would have been "dismissed" had she commenced her action within the grace period prior to completing the NRS Chapter 40 process. (Opening Brief, 23). Specifically, Byrne represented to this Court:

NRS 40.647 further pronounces that, if a claimant commences an action without complying with the notice, inspection and repair requirements, *the court must dismiss the action*.

(Opening Brief, 23) (Emphasis added).

This is a misleading and incorrect characterization of the statute. NRS 40.647(2) actually provides:

- 2. If a claimant commences an action without complying with subsection 1 or NRS 40.645, the court shall:
- (a) Dismiss the action without prejudice and compel the claimant to comply with those provisions before filing another action; or

(b) If dismissal of the action would prevent the claimant from filing another action because the action would be procedurally barred by the statute of limitations or statute of repose, the court shall stay the proceeding pending compliance with those provisions by the claimant.

(Emphasis added).

Failure to comply with NRS Chapter 40 pre-litigation requirements does not result in dismissal with prejudice, as Byrne seems to suggest. Pursuant to NRS 40.647(2)(a), if a Chapter 40 action is commenced before satisfaction of the pre-litigation requirements, the result is dismissal without prejudice to permit completion of the Chapter 40 process and commencement of a new action. See NRS 40.647(2)(a). However, if that process will result in the action being "procedurally barred by the statute of limitations or statute of repose", the District Court is required to stay the proceedings to allow the Chapter 40 claimant to complete all pre-litigation requirements. See NRS 40.647(2)(b). Attorney Springel is undoubtedly aware of this procedure through his experience defending homebuilders and subcontractors from construction defect claims since 1992. (2 AA 327).

NRS 40.647(2)(b) *specifically* contemplates a scenario such as that faced by Byrne in this case. Under NRS 40.647(2)(b), Byrne could have simply commenced her action at any time before the expiration of the one-year grace period on February 24, 2016 regardless of the progress made in the pre-litigation process. Doing so would have obligated the District Court to "...stay the

proceeding pending compliance with..." NRS 40.647(2)(b) (Emphasis added). As recognized by this Court:

[t]he statute specifically states that if a plaintiff who files a constructional defect suit before completing the pre-litigation process would be prevented from filing another suit based on the expiration of the statute of limitations or repose, then the court must stay the case rather than dismiss it in order to allow for compliance with the NRS Chapter 40 requirements.

D.R. Horton, Inc. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court of Nev., 358 P.3d 925, 928 (Nev. 2015) citing NRS 40.647(2)(b). (Emphasis added).

In fact, Byrne's complaint reveals that she was aware that she could simply file her lawsuit to "stop the running of any and all applicable statutes of repose and limitations":

25. In the event that Plaintiff failed to file suit within the statutorily prescribed time period for any allegations contained herein, Plaintiff alleges that she detrimentally relied upon the conduct and representations of the Defendants, and each of them in making repairs and/or representations to Plaintiff concerning the Subject Property and therefore the statute of limitations and repose are thus tolled. Notwithstanding these actions, this lawsuit is being filed to stop the running of any and all applicable statutes of repose and limitations.

(1 AA 6) (Emphasis added).

This Court must presume that the legislature had NRS 40.672(2)(b) in mind when drafting the one-year grace period. *See Boulder City*, 101 Nev. at 118-19, 694 P.2d at 500. ("[It is presumed that in enacting a statute the legislature acts with full knowledge of existing statutes relating to the same subject."). That is, the

Legislature was fully aware that a Chapter 40 claimant whose claims were approaching expiration of the repose period had the ability to commence her action before completing the pre-litigation process without compromising her rights. *See id.* This Court must presume that the Legislature was aware of the fact that an action commenced under such circumstances would result in a stay of the case to complete the pre-litigation process, not dismissal with prejudice as suggested by Byrne. *See id.*

However, for reasons not explained or justified in her brief, Byrne opted to proceed under the erroneous assumption that her Chapter 40 Notice, which was served *after* the statute of repose had already expired, somehow preserved her claim. Simply stated, she failed to take advantage of the procedural safeguards put in place by the Legislature to avoid this precise situation. The District Court's Order dismissing Byrne's Complaint must therefore be affirmed.

B. The District Court's Ruling Promotes Consistency and Uniformity.

The District Court's ruling provides a clear outline of the statute of repose set forth by AB 125 and the narrow "grace period," and sets out a framework for the applicability of the tolling provision. This ruling promotes consistency and uniformity amongst different claimants.

Byrne argues that the District Court's evaluation of the grace period set forth in AB 125 §21(6) leads to irrational consequences, including arbitrary

discrimination between similarly situated claimants. (Opening Brief, 24). This argument fails as the application of the grace period is straightforward. Moreover, no two claimants are similarly situated, unless they have the exact same date of substantial completion and they serve their Chapter 40 Notice or commence their action by the filing of a complaint on the exact same dates. If those circumstances are in place, then the application of the grace period is exactly the same and the results are exactly the same. In this instance, Byrne is not similarly situated with any other claimant and the relevant dates, including substantial completion, service of the Chapter 40 Notice and the filing of the Complaint are unique to Byrne.

The analysis of the statute of repose issue on any particular claim rests on a detailed factual evaluation of the key dates, and the applicability of those dates to the operative statute. Obviously, two claimants who serve Chapter 40 Notices on the same date can have different outcomes, depending on the substantial completion dates, or the accrual dates for their claims. This is nothing new. The potential impact on the viability of the claim depends on the relevant dates. For example, in this matter, since Byrne's claim accrued on May 26, 2009, before the enactment of AB 125, Byrne could have taken advantage of the grace period afforded by AB 125 §21(6). If a claim accrues after the enactment of AB 125, the grace period is not available. It is a simple analysis. Byrne's hypothetical dates and incomplete fact patterns skew this analysis unnecessarily.

Further, the District Court's ruling does not unevenly apply the tolling provisions of NRS 40.695, nor does it eliminate the tolling provision for any particular claimants. Simply stated, the tolling provision is available to a claimant if it is invoked by the service of the Chapter 40 Notice within the statute of repose period. *See Dykema v. Del Webb Cmtys., Inc.*, 385 P.3d 977, 980-981 (Nev. 2016) (A statute of repose is tolled when a Chapter 40 notice is served within the repose period).

Under the facts of this case, to take advantage of the tolling provision set forth in NRS 40.695, Byrne could have served her Chapter 40 Notice at any time before May 26, 2015, the expiration of the statute of repose. That was not done and interestingly, Byrne has not provided any reason as to why that was not done. Surely, Attorney Springel knew of the claimed defects during this timeframe, as he had been communicating with Sunridge and Lands West since 2012! (2 AA 329). In fact, in communications as far back as December, 2012, he essentially threatened construction defect litigation. (2 AA 366). However, instead of commencing the action within the six-year statute of repose, Byrne opted to wait another six months until December 2, 2015 to serve Chapter 40 Notice.

Byrne also ignores the fact that there was another procedural avenue available other than tolling the statute. As discussed above, Byrne could have simply commenced her action by filing the Complaint during the grace period. See

NRS 40.647(2). Had she done so, all her rights under NRS 40.600 *et seq*. would have been preserved. *See id*.

Finally, there is no conflict in the provisions adopted by the Legislature in AB 125 as it relates to the procedural options open to Byrne. There is a clear path outlined that describes how to proceed in an action against a contractor. See Boulder City, 101 Nev. at 118-19, 694 P.2d at 500. ("[It is presumed that in enacting a statute the legislature acts with full knowledge of existing statutes relating to the same subject.").

Practically speaking, utilization of this provision is common practice in the construction defect litigation arena by the Plaintiffs' bar, as lawsuits are filed, then stayed, presumably to preserve all rights related to statute of repose issues, but also to allow the general contractor and the subcontractors the right to inspect and/or repair. In this case, Byrne could have easily commenced the action by the filing of the Complaint by February 26, 2016 and then stayed the litigation until the Chapter 40 proceedings were concluded, just a few months later. *See* NRS 40.647(2). Any argument that such a strategy would have been detrimental to the parties because of the added expenses lacks merit. The only added expense would be the relatively insignificant cost of filing the lawsuit to stop to running of the statute of repose.

¹² Moreover, the "placeholder suit," as described by Byrne, (Opening Brief, 26), is exactly what was contemplated by the Legislature, as there is a specific provision that allows for it in NRS 40.647(2)(b).

C. The District Court's Ruling is in Line With Public Policy Considerations.

Prior to AB 125, Nevada had a complex statute of repose scheme for construction defect claims which required an analysis of whether the defect was latent, patent, known to the contractor or was caused by "willful misconduct" of the contractor had to be taken into account. AB 125 simplified the previous scheme to one universal statute of repose of six years "...for all actions for damages caused by a deficiency in construction of improvement to real property is 6 years after substantial completion of the improvement." Legislative Counsel Digest to AB 125. The District Court's ruling is consistent with the Legislature's simplification of the scheme by promoting a clear deadline for commencing actions within the identified statute of repose.

Byrne argues that the District Court's interpretation creates a "trap for the unwary" as the statues "expressly prohibited" Byrne from filing this action prior to the fulfillment of the statutory requirements for commencing the action. (Opening Brief, 27). Once again, Byrne disingenuously suggests that commencement of her action before satisfying the statutory prerequisites would result in dismissal with prejudice. (*See* Opening Brief, 27).

As discussed above, because she was facing the expiration of a statute of repose, Byrne could have commenced her action within the six year statute of repose or even the one year grace period without compromising any of her rights.

See NRS 40.647(2)(b)("If dismissal of the action would prevent the claimant from filing another action because the action would be procedurally barred by the statute of limitations or statute of repose, the court shall stay the proceeding pending compliance with those provisions by the claimant."). (Emphasis added). Byrne failed to take advantage of a procedure put in place by the Legislature for this exact type of situation.

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